



This is a repository copy of *Context and implementation: A concept analysis towards conceptual maturity.*

White Rose Research Online URL for this paper:
<http://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/94180/>

Version: Accepted Version

Article:

Pfadenhauer, L.M., Mozygemba, K., Gerhardus, A. et al. (6 more authors) (2015) Context and implementation: A concept analysis towards conceptual maturity. *Zeitschrift für Evidenz, Fortbildung und Qualität im Gesundheitswesen*, 109 (2). pp. 103-114. ISSN 1865-9217

<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.zefq.2015.01.004>

Article available under the terms of the CC-BY-NC-ND licence
(<https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/>)

Reuse

Unless indicated otherwise, fulltext items are protected by copyright with all rights reserved. The copyright exception in section 29 of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 allows the making of a single copy solely for the purpose of non-commercial research or private study within the limits of fair dealing. The publisher or other rights-holder may allow further reproduction and re-use of this version - refer to the White Rose Research Online record for this item. Where records identify the publisher as the copyright holder, users can verify any specific terms of use on the publisher's website.

Takedown

If you consider content in White Rose Research Online to be in breach of UK law, please notify us by emailing eprints@whiterose.ac.uk including the URL of the record and the reason for the withdrawal request.



eprints@whiterose.ac.uk
<https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/>

Context and implementation: A concept analysis towards conceptual maturity

Summary

Context and implementation of health interventions have received increasing attention over the past decade, in particular with respect to their influence on effectiveness and reach of complex interventions. The underlying concepts are both considered partially mature, limiting their operationalization in research and practice. We applied systematic literature searches and pragmatic utility (PU) concept analysis to provide a state-of-the-art assessment of the concepts “context” and “implementation” in the health sciences to create a common understanding for their use within systematic reviews and HTA.

We performed two separate searches for context (EMBASE, MEDLINE) and implementation (Google Scholar) to identify relevant models, theories and frameworks. 187 publications on context and 365 publications on implementation met our inclusion criteria. PU concept analysis comprises three guiding principles, selection of the literature, organization and structuring of the literature and asking analytic questions of the literature. Both concepts were analysed according to four features of conceptual maturity, i.e. consensual definitions, clear characteristics, fully described preconditions and outcomes, and delineated boundaries. Context and implementation are highly intertwined, with both concepts influencing and interacting with each other. Context is defined as a set of characteristics and circumstances that surround the implementation effort. Implementation is conceptualized as a planned and deliberately initiated effort with the intention to bring an intervention into practice. The concept of implementation presents largely consensual definitions and relatively well-defined boundaries, while distinguishing features, preconditions and outcomes are not yet fully articulated. In contrast, definitions of context vary widely and boundaries with neighbouring concepts, such as setting and environment, are blurred; characteristics, preconditions and outcomes are ill-defined. Therefore, the maturity of both concepts should be advanced further to facilitate operationalization in systematic reviews and HTAs.

Key words

context, implementation, complex interventions, concept analysis, systematic review, health technology assessment

Abbreviations

CFIR	Consolidated Framework for Advancing Implementation Research
HTA	Health Technology Assessment

PARiHS Promoting Action on Research Implementation in Health Services
PU Pragmatic Utility

1. Introduction

The effectiveness of health interventions, as well as their success in reaching all relevant target populations, is critically influenced by their implementation in a given context; indeed, effectiveness, implementation and context are inextricably linked [1]. To date, however, limited information on implementation and contextual factors is reported in primary studies, nor are such considerations made sufficiently explicit in reporting guidelines, such as CONSORT, TREND or STROBE [2]. Likewise, systematic reviews and health technology assessments (HTA) fail to capture these factors in appropriate ways, which constitutes a major barrier in the appraisal of the generalizability of their findings and of their applicability in a specific setting [1]. Insufficient attention to context and implementation also contributes to the gap between research and practice as, even where there is adequate evidence of effectiveness, there may be insufficient detail to facilitate implementation [3].

The terms “context” and “implementation” are both widely used. Although the concept of implementation has received increasing attention over the past decades [4], both concepts are inconsistently defined and applied. According to widely used definitions, a concept is a mental representation of a phenomenon that combines and structures all of the characteristics of this phenomenon [5-8]. According to Morse, a mature concept is clearly and consensually defined, fully described, with clear characteristics, demonstrated preconditions and outcomes, and clearly delineated boundaries [9]. Based on these criteria, both “implementation” and “context” can be classified as only partially mature concepts. Such lack of conceptual maturity constitutes a major challenge to the advancement of theory, which tends to be built from clarified concepts or conceptual bricks, as well as the operationalization of concepts for research and practice [5,9-11]. Therefore, future research related to health interventions, including primary research as well as evidence synthesis, would greatly benefit from a clarification of both concepts.

In 2002, an analysis of the concept of context in a services setting was published, which was associated with the previously developed Promoting Action on Research Implementation in Health Services (PARiHS) framework [12]. This framework aims to represent the interplay of the many factors that influence the uptake of evidence into practice [13]. In this concept analysis, context was defined as the environment or setting, in which people receive health care services, or as the environment or setting, in which an intervention is to be implemented [12]. Being embedded within the PARiHS framework, the concept may be narrowly defined and have a limited extension. To our knowledge, no concept analysis of “implementation” has been undertaken to date.

2. Objective

Our objective was to conduct a concept analysis of the relevant research literature in an effort to provide a state-of-the-art assessment of the concepts “context” and “implementation” in the health sciences. This research was undertaken as part of the EU-funded Integrated health technology assessment for the evaluation of complex technologies (INTEGRATE-HTA) project (www.integrate-hta.eu). While addressing the two concepts from as broad a perspective as necessary for systematic reviews and HTAs, this research aims to create a common understanding of the concepts of context and implementation for use within systematic reviews and HTA.

3. Methods

We used a Pragmatic Utility (PU) concept analysis, as developed by Janice Morse [9,14,15]. PU concept analysis evaluates the current use of a concept by comparing and contrasting applications in particular disciplines, determining conceptual adequacy with competing concepts, and identifying gaps, inconsistencies, and boundaries. This approach sees concepts as combining probabilistic perspectives (attributes based on resemblances) with entity perspectives (must meet stringent criteria) [7], a view which can also be found in Critical Social Theory and Classical American Pragmatism, where the truth value is established by the usefulness of a concept to a discipline or program of research [16]. PU concept analysis is particularly suitable for the analysis of partially mature concepts, for which a significant body of theoretical and research papers exists but where uncertainties around the concept remain [9,15]. Based on four parameters of maturity, i.e. epistemological, pragmatic, linguistic and logical [9], and the fact that myriad definitions of “context” and “implementation” exist, both concepts can be categorized as partially mature, although implementation has been more theorized in the implementation science literature.

As proposed by Weaver and Mitcham (2008), PU concept analysis is based on guiding principles rather than a detailed series of steps [16]. First, relevant literature needs to be identified to ensure the validity of the concept analysis [16]. Secondly, this literature must be organized in a general way and then structured through decontextualization to reveal general features of the concept [9,16]. Finally, key analytical questions are formulated and asked of the literature to derive consistent dimensions and boundaries of the concept. Importantly, concept analysis is a non-linear, iterative process [16], which involves going back and forth between the different stages, which are described in more detail below.

3.1. Searching and selecting relevant literature

For this concept analysis, we included all original publications that develop, propose or describe a theory, model, approach or framework for assessing, analyzing and/or reporting

context, and/or implementation. The frameworks could be theoretical (i.e. derived from theory or first principles) or empirical (i.e. tested against observations, experiences or in experiments) in nature. Empirical studies could employ qualitative and/or quantitative methods and systematic reviews. Theoretical studies may comprise theory development based on literature reviews and/or experience.

For “context”, the databases EMBASE (January 1974 – December 2013) and MEDLINE (January 1964 – December 2013) were searched for relevant publications. Search terms were “context”, “setting”, “environment”, combined using the Boolean operator AND with “model”, “theory”, “method”, “concept”, “conceptual model”, “conceptual framework” and “approach”. [We also used snowball searching in grey literature to identify relevant publications using the search terms “context”, “setting” and “environment”](#) For “implementation”, a recent review by Damschroder and colleagues (2009), which comprises 19 frameworks, offers an overarching typology on implementation theory [17]. Based on this, forward searches were performed in Google Scholar considering all publications published between January 2009 and May 2014 that cited either Damschroder et al. (2009) or any of the 19 included frameworks.

Titles and abstracts were screened by one researcher (LMP, KM, AG, AB, MT, KBL, BH, JB, EAR), Relevant full-text articles were screened by two researchers, with any differences in appraisal resolved through discussion.

3.2. Organizing and structuring the literature

The organization and structuring of the literature was initially undertaken by LMP and then reviewed by all team members. Included publications were organized according to the field from which the concepts used were originally derived (e.g. health, psychology, social science, organizational, business and management sciences), as well as definitions, characteristics, field of application (e.g. primary care) and contained model(s) (e.g. Consolidated Framework for Advancing Implementation Research (CFIR)). We also extracted information on the methods used to develop the concept (e.g. primary qualitative research).

For a more in-depth structuring of the concepts, we reviewed their features by decontextualizing information and attributing them to three major themes, i.e. characteristics, preconditions and outcomes, and boundaries of the concepts [9]. By applying exploratory and elemental methods of coding [18] to the decontextualized information, themes were identified within categories and compared with each other. Definitions, characteristics, preconditions and outcomes, and boundaries were also used as an overall structure for presenting the results.

3.3. Asking key questions of the literature

Key analytic questions were developed inductively and deductively, with questions arising from the literature (e.g. from implications for future research described in the included studies) and being proposed by the research team during the process of becoming acquainted with the included studies. Key questions comprised:

- How do agents interact within an implementation effort?
- How do context and implementation interact?
- How are the intervention and the implementation/context intertwined?
- How is success of implementation conceptualized?
- How does time exert its influence on the conceptualization of context?

These questions were answered from the included literature by LMP with assistance from all team members.

4. Results

4.1. Selection and organization of literature

For “**context**”, the searches in EMBASE and MEDLINE yielded 2,266 records after de-duplication. Screening of titles and abstracts yielded 44 papers for full-text screening. [18 publications were identified via grey literature search.](#), ~~with 187~~ publications ~~were~~ eventually ~~being~~ included in the concept analysis. With original definitions and concepts of context being derived from health, business and management sciences as well as social sciences, we were using the health literature as a lens through which to examine the other disciplines. ~~Besides the concept analysis by McCormack et al. [12], the analysis of the~~ concept of context was based on systematic reviews [19], non-systematic literature reviews ~~[20-23]~~[17,20,21], primary qualitative studies [2,22,23] ~~and, mixed-method approaches [3,24-29]. [12] or theoretical approaches [3, 30, 31].~~ For two publications, the method of development was unclear [30,31].

For “**implementation**”, the searches in Google Scholar yielded 4,445 records after de-duplication. The full texts of 72 publications were screened, ~~and with 365~~ publications ~~eventually meeting~~ the predefined inclusion criteria. Definitions and concepts of implementation in included studies were based on health, psychology, social science, organizational, business and management sciences, and education. Findings were based on systematic reviews [19,32-34] non-systematic literature reviews [17,35-42], primary qualitative [23,43-46] ~~or~~ quantitative studies [47,48], mixed-method approaches [32,49,50] and theory ~~[43,51-62]~~[51-62]. [Figure 1 shows the study selection process for all records identified through the searches.](#)

[PLEASE INSERT FIGURE 1 HERE]

Comment [LP1]: Please insert Figure 1 here

Both context and implementation are concerned with an “object”. Objects were a specific technology [32,35], an intervention [17,23,37,41,44], innovations [19,34,36,60], evidence-based practices [38,39,42,43,45,47,48,50-53,59] or quality improvements [33,49]. However, terminology also varied within publications, comprising programs, policies, or, more generally, change. Moreover, conceptualizations differed in their objective: while some authors operationalized their conceptualization so as to facilitate the quantitative measurement of context [22], others applied a more descriptive qualitative conceptualization (e.g. [20]).

At a very early stage the concept analysis revealed that context and implementation are highly interconnected. Implementation of an object always takes place in a given context, and this context influences how implementation takes place-[17][52]. Likewise, the underlying concepts usually relate and refer to one another. Nevertheless, for the operationalization of both concepts in primary research, systematic reviews, and HTAs, we considered it useful to continue to treat the two concepts as distinct while taking significant overlaps and interactions into account. Therefore, whenever publications selected for the concept analysis of implementation yielded any information concerning the concept of context, the publication was also analyzed for context, and vice versa. In the following, findings are structured according to the anatomy of concepts, i.e. definition, characteristics, preconditions and outcomes as well as boundaries.

4.2. Context

4.2.1. Definitions of context

In the included studies, the concept of “context” was either used in a discrete, specific way [17] with a definition being provided, or employed in a broader, general way [13]. Context has been described as environment [12,26], setting [12,26], a defined area or location [25], the work setting [24], a set of circumstances or unique factors surrounding an implementation effort [17], or any information that can be used to characterize the situation of an entity [27]. Such entities tend to be organizations [24,27] or communities [25]. “Setting” usually has a narrower focus [17]. It often refers to the place where an intervention is delivered (e.g. primary care setting [3]) or the circumstances of an intervention (e.g. low-income setting [22]). All definitions, where provided, can be found in [Table 1. Table 1.](#)

4.2.2. Characteristics of context

Context is characterized as having a broad scope [17], being complex and dynamic [12], constantly changing ~~(B. McCormack et al., 2009)(Brendan McCormack et al., 2002)~~[26], and

rarely straightforward [26]. It can be perceived as something physical [30], or as a non-physical construct (e.g. [12,25]).

Elements of context exist within complex, multi-layered systems [3,52] and, within these systems, may be allocated to– formal or informal – groups or clusters [12,23]. These elements interact not only with each other, but also with a broader environment [12], usually in non-linear ways [23]. The interfaces or boundaries of these elements are dynamic and precarious [17]. This also reflects the subjectivity of context [23,25,27], with subjectivity not only relating to individuals or entities but also to the objects considered [19]. Despite this complexity, elements [12], levels of analysis or layers [19] and boundaries are discernible [12,26], where elements and subsystems are nested in larger systems or environments [3,12,19,24].

Propositions to structure interacting elements of context include: structural, organizational, provider and recipient levels [19]; outer setting, inner setting and characteristics of individuals [17]; inner and outer context [43,47,52]; potential (individual intentions, collective commitment) and capacity (material resources, social roles, social norms, cognitive resources) [56]; external and internal factors [38]; and contextual factors associated with micro-, meso- and macro-levels [44].

4.2.3. Preconditions for and outcomes of context

In the health sciences, context is usually considered in relation to an “object”, such as the translation of knowledge [22] or the implementation of a technology or intervention [33]. It also applies to the practice context in which people receive care [12] or the broader context that exerts its influence on people’s behaviors [28] or functioning [30].

Context is not only a “backdrop” for implementation [17], but is attributed a concrete role in influencing or interacting with an object [27]; thereby it can directly influence implementation outcomes and success [33]. These objects are structured [3], modified [24], facilitated [3], enabled [3] and constrained [3,30] by context. Context can be receptive [35] and ready for change [17], and have absorptive, normative or relational capacities for change [35,49,56]. As such, some attributes of context can be modified to make them an active component of the intervention to enhance implementation and effectiveness [29].

4.2.4. Boundaries of context

As described above, the terms context, setting and environment are sometimes used interchangeably in the literature, although boundaries do emerge. Whenever a distinction between context and setting is made, setting refers to something narrower, more specific, organized and “physical” than context [3,17]. Whenever a distinction between context and environment is made, environment is described as something external to the organization

[23,37], as the social or monetary environment [32] or the community or society within which a smaller system operates [33]. In contrast, for Damschroder et al (2009), setting embraces the “environmental characteristics in which implementation occurs” [17]. Importantly, context comprises both concrete, physical and more abstract, social, cultural and economic dimensions, although many applications focus on only one of the two, often determined by the specific object under investigation [61].

4.3. Implementation

4.3.1. Definitions of implementation

The concept of “implementation” is defined as a process [19], a constellation of processes [17], a stage of adoption [35], a transition period [17], efforts [53], methods [60] or means [17] designed to get practices into use or to apply new practices in a specific setting or context [34], a gateway between the decision to adopt and the routine use of an intervention [17], a social organization of bringing a practice into action [63][57] or a function of various factors [61]. Some authors remain deliberately vague when describing implementation as “putting an innovation into practice” [34]. All definitions provided in included publications are shown in Table 2.

4.3.2. Characteristics of implementation

Implementation is characterized as dynamic or active, planned, deliberately initiated [56], complex [55], multi-faceted [55], orchestrated [44], iterative and driven by and embedded in organizational strategy [44]. Implementation is not an all-or-nothing construct, but exists in degrees along a spectrum [34].

In view of the growing research area of implementation science, concept analysis has identified rich insights into the characteristics of implementation. These are presented here according to implementation goal, levels, process, strategy and agents.

4.3.2.1. Implementation goal

The general goal of implementation is for targeted populations or entities to use the object in effective ways [54], to facilitate improved patient and/or organization outcomes [24], ideally over extended periods of time to ensure sustainability [45,46] . Examples of more specific goals are to implement evidence-based practice, to deliver a new intervention, technology or policy, to improve a management process, to maximize effectiveness or efficiency, and to change organizational culture [38].

4.3.2.2. Implementation levels

Implementation can occur at multiple levels, where it interacts with multiple contextual factors [17,19]. These levels include the individual [19], the community [32,58], a unit within an organization, the organization as a whole [19] as well as the broader system (e.g. [19,43]). The implementation of objects can target one level (e.g. [37]) or several levels (e.g. [19,60]).

4.3.2.3. Implementation process

The implementation process can be considered as a whole (i.e. umbrella process) or structured into sub-processes [17], steps, phases, stages or activities [17] involving multiple decisions, actions, corrections, refinements, re-evaluations, expansions [17,58], methods and tactics [38] undertaken by agents [56]. The implementation process is characterized as active [17], multistage [60], recursive [54], cyclical and non-linear [54], interactive [54], formal or informal [17], and dynamic [38]. These processes may simultaneously occur at multiple levels [17], with processes overlapping when activities relating to one stage continue to occur or re-occur even after activities related to the next stage have begun [58].

4.3.2.4. Implementation strategies

Implementation strategies comprise specific means or methods to ensure that objects are adopted and sustained, thereby becoming part of routine practice [35,47]. They relate to assumptions on how change needs to be executed [32,58,59] through a set of activities chosen and tailored to fit the specific implementation context [43,53], or to create such a context [43]. Therefore, implementation strategies can be considered complex interventions in their own right, as they often address multifaceted processes within interpersonal, organizational, and community contexts [59].

Implementation strategies can serve a task-oriented (a strategy is implemented within a relatively short timeframe) or broader purpose (a strategy is targeted at long-term transformational change within an institution) [45]. They include push and pull schemes [62] [59], carrot or stick strategies [59] and bottom-up and top-down approaches [32,59]. Additionally, intervention strategies can be discrete (e.g. toolkits, checklists, algorithms, protocols, guidelines [59]) or complex (e.g. learning collaborative [59], support teams [58], economic, fiscal and regulatory strategies [59]).

4.3.2.5. Implementation agents

Broadly, implementation agents comprise all individuals engaged with deciding to implement a given object (e.g. funders, administrators), implementing a given object (e.g. providers, advocates) or being the target or otherwise affected by that same object (e.g. patients, consumers). Indeed, as an intervention is adopted and used by individuals within a unit,

organization, community or system these individuals are also key stakeholders –and act as active agents whose buy-in is critical for successful implementation [19]–[17]. Individuals have agency, make choices and can wield power and influence on one another [17]. Therefore, suitable individuals need to be carefully involved in implementation as opinion leaders, internal implementation leaders, champions and external change agents [17].

4.3.3. Preconditions for and outcomes of implementation

Elements of context act as predictors [35], precedents [35], antecedents [56] and preconditions for implementation, its outcomes [35] and success [19]. Different aspects of context may impact different phases of the implementation process differently [47,52]. A further characteristic is the fit of the object with the system into which it is implemented [17,39,43,46]. Clearly, the characteristics of an object, in particular its effectiveness, influence implementation and thus must be taken into account [53]. More specifically, the quality [17,19] of the evidence supporting effectiveness, the relative advantage of utilizing an innovation above existing practices or alternative solutions [17,19], cost [17] and intervention source (external or internal) [17] are of importance.

Principally, effectiveness outcomes must be differentiated from implementation outcomes [38,47,53], with the latter occurring at different stages of implementation [19]. They may be intended or unintended [32], can be assessed at different levels [32], and may be process (e.g. fidelity) or content outcomes (e.g. organizational performance) [38]. It should be noted that implementation outcomes, in turn, have implications for continuing and future implementation efforts [61]. Important implementation outcomes identified in the literature are fidelity [19,38,47], adoption [19], uptake [42,45], acceptability [42], implementation cost [19], penetration [19], sustainability [17,19] and dissemination to other contexts [17].

4.3.4. Boundaries of implementation

Neighbouring concepts encountered in included publications are dissemination, diffusion and normalization. Dissemination and diffusion both relate to the transmission of information about an object, with the former being purposive and proactive and the latter being unintentional and passive. Diffusion is described as an informal, unplanned [36], natural and passive process [60] of transferring information within a given context [60], where, as a result, agents may or may not adopt an object [36]. Dissemination, on the other hand, is characterized as a formal, planned and active process, effort or method [34,36,60], which intends to transmit information about an object [34,60] and/or to persuade a target group to adopt the object [42]. In this way, dissemination can also be considered a specific implementation strategy [32]. Normalization into practice occurs when an object is fully

integrated with everyday practice [56] and therefore is related to the long-term outcomes of implementation and the idea of sustainability.

5. Discussion

5.1. Key findings

This concept analysis has provided a broad and in-depth overview of the current use of context and implementation in the health sciences with the purpose of clarifying the use of both concepts in primary research as well as evidence synthesis. Although implementation and context are two highly intertwined concepts, we found it fruitful to separate context and implementation in two dimensions while being explicit about the interactions between both.

Context is defined as a set of characteristics and circumstances that consist of active and unique factors that surround the implementation effort. As such it is not a backdrop for implementation but interacts, influences, modifies and facilitates or constrains the intervention and the implementation effort. Context is usually considered in relation to an intervention or object, with which it actively interacts. A boundary between the concepts of context and setting is discernible: setting refers to the physical, specific location in which the intervention is put into practice. Context is much more versatile, embracing not only the setting but also roles, interactions and relationships.

Implementation can be considered a rather vague concept, with authors usually using the term without providing a distinct conceptualization. In our analysis, implementation emerged as an actively planned and deliberately initiated effort with the intention to bring a given object into practice. These efforts are undertaken by agents, which are either actively promoting the use of the intervention or adopt the newly appraised practices. They are usually structured in an implementation process consisting of specific implementation strategies. Context and its characteristics are preconditions for implementation, and implementation is measured in terms of outcomes such as adoption, uptake or sustainability. Fidelity was described as the outcome of an implementation effort by various authors, however, fidelity is also considered a moderator of the relationship between interventions and their intended outcomes [63]. Considering neighbouring concepts such as dissemination and diffusion, clear boundaries can be recognized in relation to the degree of planning and the formalization of processes.

~~As described in the introduction, a~~ fully mature concept has clear and consensual definitions, clearly described characteristics, fully described and demonstrated preconditions and outcomes as well as delineated boundaries [9]. Broadly speaking, implementation definitions are consensual although they vary in breadth; boundaries to neighbouring concepts are relatively well-defined. On the other hand, the distinguishing features of

implementation are not yet fully articulated, nor are its preconditions and outcomes. Therefore, while some aspects of the concept of implementation are clearly delineated, conceptual maturity can still be advanced further. Context, on the other hand, clearly represents a concept that is only partially mature with definitions and terminology varying widely and blurred boundaries with neighbouring concepts, such as setting and environment. Characteristics, preconditions and outcomes of context are not clearly delineated.

5.2. Strengths and limitations

Our work combines the strengths of a systematic review approach, characterised by a precise research question, a broad search strategy and explicit pre-defined inclusion criteria, with the strengths of a concept analysis, which followed clearly described guiding principles but also pursued iterations in interpretation, in particular to assess the inter-connectedness between the two concepts under review. This allowed us to produce a valid and comprehensive assessment of conceptual maturity in relation to definitions, characteristics, preconditions and outcomes and boundaries of context and implementation.

Nevertheless, our work also shows important limitations.

First, while we employed a broad search strategy to ensure that the use of both concepts is captured as comprehensively as possible, for pragmatic reasons we limited our searches to key health sciences databases, and application in the health sciences was one of the inclusion criteria. Interestingly, the use of both context and implementation is strongly influenced by organizational, social, psychological, business and management sciences and other disciplines, and an ideal concept analysis should therefore also pursue broader searches in interdisciplinary databases. Nevertheless, we believe that the aspects most applicable to the health sciences are likely to be integrated with the included publications, especially as these represent a range of health disciplines, from clinical research to e-health technologies and public health.

Secondly, pragmatic utility concept analysis is considered an evolving method, whose strengths and limitations have been widely discussed in the literature. It has been criticized for being limited to partially mature concepts for which an adequate sample of literature exists, [16] and for not providing a comprehensive manual to guide the approach [16]. In our work, we did identify a significant body of literature and attempted to be as explicit as possible about how we put the method into practice. Nevertheless, we attempted to preserve an important advantage of the method in that it does not adhere to a linear sequence of steps but allows to follow emerging nuances [15]. While Penrod and Hupcey refer to pragmatic utility as a method that is only applicable to concept advancement [64,65], [it becomes clear](#) from those studies that ~~have have~~ actually employed pragmatic utility, ~~it~~

~~becomes clear~~ that the method allows both analysis and advancement [16]. ~~with e~~Our work ~~having~~ focused primarily on analysis. While other types of concept analyses could have been applied as well, there is no consensus in the literature regarding the most suitable approach. Finally, the concept analysis was primarily performed by LMP. We attempted to limit subjective interpretation by applying both elemental (especially in-vivo coding) and exploratory coding [18], thus resulting in an analysis that is grounded in the included publications. Moreover, important steps in the analysis were conducted in cooperation with, or discussed with, the whole team.

5.3. Implications for primary research, systematic reviews and HTAs

This concept analysis is based on a comprehensive review of the state-of-the-art use of the concepts of context and implementation in health-related literature. It thus adds to current health research by contributing to greater conceptual clarity of two concepts that are of major importance for closing the gap between research and practice. Implementation can be considered a concept of intermediate maturity ~~which would benefit from in terms of consensual definitions and clear boundaries, although~~ further development ~~will need to be undertaken~~ in terms of agreeing and structuring its characteristics as well as its preconditions and ~~specific~~ outcomes. The concept of context is relatively less mature, ~~as it lacks a consensual definition and boundaries and is ill-defined in terms of characteristics, preconditions and outcomes. It~~ ~~whereas therefore it~~ requires much research to advance conceptual clarity.

Both concepts are of particular importance when working on complex health interventions, where context and implementation ~~both play a critical role in relation to population reach and effectiveness. both play a critical role in relation to population reach and effectiveness. Both concepts should be used for the design and evaluation of complex interventions and the assessment of what works for whom in what circumstance. Therefore, they should be clearly documented and reported throughout primary as well as secondary research.~~ Given the breadth of health sciences, ranging from biomedical to population-level approaches, it might also be relevant to investigate differences in concept operationalization for different sub-disciplines.

Moreover, there is a need to develop comprehensive, yet flexible reporting guidelines for primary research, in particular effectiveness research (e.g. randomized controlled trials ~~or natural experiments~~ ~~[[2]]~~), implementation research (e.g. process evaluations ~~[[66]]~~) but also qualitative research (e.g. enablers and barriers to the uptake of interventions), which reflect the importance of context and implementation. An example for reporting guidelines of primary research comprising both concepts is the CReDECI guidelines that should be used

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing: 1.5 lines

[alongside study design-specific reporting guidelines](#) [67]. For systematic reviews and HTA, future research should work towards the development of a comprehensive framework and toolkit for assessing the relevance of context and implementation, in particular with respect to complex interventions.

Formatted: Justified, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: 1.5 lines

[17][68][69][70][17][71][26][12][12][13][33][72][17][73][74][53][75][56][76][34][77][44][60][78-84]

6. Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Dr. Katja Kuehlmeier from the University of Munich for her valuable methodological support. The research leading to this publication is part of the project INTEGRATE-HTA and has received funding from the European Union Seventh Framework Programme under grant agreement n° 306141.

7. References

1. Waters E, Hall BJ, Armstrong R, Doyle J, Pottman TL, de Silva Sanigorski A. Essential components of public health evidence reviews: capturing intervention complexity, implementation, economics and equity. *Journal of public health*. 2011;33(3):462-5.
2. Wells M, Williams B, Treweek S, Coyle J, Taylor J. Intervention description is not enough: evidence from an in-depth multiple case study on the untold role and impact of context in randomised controlled trials of seven complex interventions. *Trials*. 2012;13:95.
3. Mendel P, Meredith LS, Schoenbaum M, Sherbourne CD, Wells KB. Interventions in organizational and community context: a framework for building evidence on dissemination and implementation in health services research. *Administration and policy in mental health*. 2008;35(1-2):21-37.
4. Cane J, O'Connor D, Michie S. Validation of the theoretical domains framework for use in behaviour change and implementation research. *Implement Sci*. 2012;7(37).
5. Hupcey JE, Penrod J. Concept analysis: examining the state of the science. *Research and theory for nursing practice*. 2005;19(2):197-208.
6. Morse JM. Exploring the theoretical basis of nursing using advances techniques of concept analysis. *Advances in Nursing Science*. 1995;17(3):31-46.
7. Chinn PL, Kramer MK. *Theory and nursing: a systematic approach*. St. Louis, MO: Mosby; 1995.
8. Margolis E, Laurence S. The Ontology of Concepts—Abstract Objects or Mental Representations? *Noûs*. 2007;41(4):561-93.
9. Morse JM, Mitcham C, Hupcey JE, Tason MC. Criteria for concept evaluation. *Journal of Advance Nursing*. 1996;24:385-90.
10. McKenna H. *Nursing theories and models*. Oxford: Routledge; 2000.
11. Walker LO, Avant KC. *Strategies for theory construction in nursing*. Norwalk, CT: Appleton & Lange; 1995.
12. McCormack B, Kitson A, Harvey G, Rycroft-Malone J, Titchen A, Seers K. Getting evidence into practice: the meaning of 'context'. *J Adv Nurs*. 2002;38(1):94-104.
13. Kitson A, Harvey G, McCormack B. Enabling the implementation of evidence based practice: a conceptual framework. *Quality in Health Care*. 1998;7(3):149-58.
14. Morse JM. Exploring pragmatic utility: concept analysis by critically appraising the literature. In: Rodgers BL, Knaf K, editors. *Concept Development in Nursing: Foundations, Techniques, and Applications*. 2 ed. Philadelphia, PA: W.B. Saunders; 2000. p. 333-52.

- 15.—Morse JM, Hupcey JE, Mitcham C, Lenz ER. Choosing a strategy for concept analysis in nursing research: moving beyond Wilson. In: Gioft AG, editor. *Clarifying Concepts in Nursing Research*. New York: Springer; 1997. p. 73–96.
- 16.—Weaver K, Mitcham C. Nursing concept analysis in North America: state of the art. *Nursing philosophy : an international journal for healthcare professionals*. 2008;9(3):180-94.
- 17.—Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. *Implement Sci*. 2009;4:50.
- 18.—Saldana JM. *The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers*. 2 ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications Ltd—2013.
- 19.—Chaudoir SR, Dugan AG, Barr CHI. Measuring factors affecting implementation of health innovations: a systematic review of structural, organizational, provider, patient, and innovation-level measures. *Implementation Science*. 2013;8.
- 20.—Anderson LM, Scrimshaw SC, Fullilove MT, Fielding JE, Task Force on Community Preventive S. The Community Guide's model for linking the social environment to health. *American journal of preventive medicine*. 2003;24(3 Suppl):12-20.
- 21.—Sorensen G, Emmons K, Hunt MK, Barbeau E, Goldman R, Peterson K, et al. Model for incorporating social context in health behavior interventions: applications for cancer prevention for working-class, multiethnic populations. *Preventive medicine*. 2003;37(3):188-97.
- 22.—Tomoaia-Cotisel A, Scammon DL, Waitzman NJ, Cronholm PF, Halladay JR, Driscoll DL, et al. Context matters: the experience of 14 research teams in systematically reporting contextual factors important for practice change. *Ann Fam Med*. 2013;11 Suppl 1:S115-23.
- 23.—Burchett H, Umoquit M, Dobrow M. How do we know when research from one setting can be useful in another? A review of external validity, applicability and transferability frameworks. *Journal of health services research & policy*. 2011;16(4):238-44.
- 24.—Brown D, McCormack BG. Developing the practice context to enable more effective pain management with older people: an action research approach. *Implement Sci*. 2011;6:9.
- 25.—Bergstrom A, Peterson S, Namusoko S, Waiswa P, Wallin L. Knowledge translation in Uganda: a qualitative study of Ugandan midwives' and managers' perceived relevance of the sub-elements of the context cornerstone in the PARIHS framework. *Implement Sci*. 2012;7:117.

26. McCormack B, McCarthy G, Wright J, Slater P, Coffey A. Development and testing of the Context Assessment Index (CAI). *Worldviews Evid Based Nurs.* 2009;6(1):27-35.
27. Kaplan HC, Provost LP, Froehle CM, Margolis PA. The Model for Understanding Success in Quality (MUSIQ): building a theory of context in healthcare quality improvement. *BMJ quality & safety.* 2012;21(1):13-20.
28. Riedmann D, Jung M, Hackl WO, Stuhlinger W, van der Sijs H, Ammenwerth E. Development of a context model to prioritize drug safety alerts in CPOE systems. *BMC Medical Informatics And Decision Making.* 2011;11:35.
29. Estabrooks CA, Squires JE, Cummings GG, Birdsell JM, Norton PG. Development and assessment of the Alberta Context Tool. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2009;9:234.
30. Fröhlich KL, Potvin L, Chabot P, Corin E. A theoretical and empirical analysis of context: neighbourhoods, smoking and youth. *Social science & medicine.* 2002;54(9):1401-17.
31. Kayser Jones J. Culture, environment, and restraints: a conceptual model for research and practice. *Journal of gerontological nursing.* 1992;18(11):13-20.
32. (WHO); WHO. How to use the ICF: A practical manual for using the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). Exposure draft for comment [Internet]. 2013.
33. SURE Collaboration. 5. Identifying and addressing barriers to implementing policy options. *SURE Guides for Preparing and Using Evidence-Based Policy Briefs (Version 20): The SURE Collaboration;* 2011.
34. Emmons KM, Weiner B, Fernandez ME, Tu S-P. Systems Antecedents for Dissemination and Implementation: A Review and Analysis of Measures. *Health Education & Behavior.* 2012;39(1):87-105.
35. Hage E, Roo JP, van Offenbeek MAG, Boonstra A. Implementation factors and their effect on e-Health service adoption in rural communities: a systematic literature review. *Bmc Health Services Research.* 2013;13.
36. Kaplan HC, Brady PW, Dritz MC, Hooper DK, Linam WM, Froehle CM, et al. The influence of context on quality improvement success in health care: a systematic review of the literature. *The Milbank quarterly.* 2010;88(4):500-59.
37. Meyers DC, Durlak JA, Wandersman A. The Quality Implementation Framework: A Synthesis of Critical Steps in the Implementation Process. *American Journal of Community Psychology.* 2012;50(3-4):462-80.
38. Avgar AC, Litwin AS, Pronovost PJ. Drivers and Barriers in Health IT Adoption A Proposed Framework. *Applied Clinical Informatics.* 2012;3(4):488-500.

- 39.—Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. *Implementation Science*. 2009;4.
- 40.—Glanz K, Bishop DB. The Role of Behavioral Science Theory in Development and Implementation of Public Health Interventions. In: Fielding JE, Brownson RC, Green LW, editors. *Annual Review of Public Health*, Vol 31. *Annual Review of Public Health*. 312010. p. 399-418.
- 41.—Packard T. Organizational Change: A Conceptual Framework to Advance the Evidence Base. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*. 2013;23(1).
- 42.—Palmer D, Kramlich D. An Introduction to the Multisystem Model of Knowledge Integration and Translation. *Advances in Nursing Science*. 2011;34(1):29-38.
- 43.—Suter E, Goldman J, Martimianakis T, Chatalalsingh C, DeMatteo DJ, Reeves S. The use of systems and organizational theories in the interprofessional field: findings from a scoping review. *Journal of interprofessional care*. 2013;27(1):57-64.
- 44.—Talsma A, McLaughlin M, Bathish M, Sirihorachai R, Kuttner R. The Quality, Implementation, and Evaluation Model: A Clinical Practice Model for Sustainable Interventions. *Western journal of nursing research*. 2014;36(7):929-46.
- 45.—Taxman FS, Belenke S. Conceptual Model: Evidence Based Interagency Implementation Model. In: Taxman FS, Belenke S, editors. *Implementing Evidence-Based Practices in Community Corrections and Addiction Treatment*. New York: Springer 2012. p. 239-74.
- 46.—Suter E, Deutschlander S, Lait J. Using a Complex Systems Perspective to Achieve Sustainable Health Care Practice Change. *Journal of Research in Interprofessional Practice and Education*. 2011;2(1):83-99.
- 47.—Aarons GA, Fettes DL, Hurlburt MS, Palinkas LA, Gunderson L, Willging CE, et al. Collaboration, Negotiation, and Coalescence for Interagency Collaborative Teams to Scale-Up Evidence-Based Practice. *Journal of clinical child and adolescent psychology : the official journal for the Society of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, American Psychological Association, Division 53*. 2014.
- 48.—Rycroft-Malone J, Seers K, Chandler J, Hawkes CA, Crichton N, Allen C, et al. The role of evidence, context, and facilitation in an implementation trial: implications for the development of the PARIHS framework. *Implementation Science*. 2013;8.
- 49.—Stetler CB, Damschroder LJ, Helfrich CD, Hagedorn HJ. A Guide for applying a revised version of the PARIHS framework for implementation. *Implementation Science*. 2011;6.
- 50.—Beidas SR, Edmunds J, Ditty M, Watkins J, Walsh L, Marcus S, et al. Are Inner Context Factors Related to Implementation Outcomes in Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for

Youth Anxiety? Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research. 2013.

- 51.— Helfrich CD, Li Y F, Sharp ND, Sales AE. Organizational readiness to change assessment (ORCA): Development of an instrument based on the Promoting Action on Research in Health Services (PARIHS) framework. *Implementation Science*. 2009;4.
- 52.— Flottorp SA, Oxman AD, Krause J, Musila NR, Wensing M, Godycki-Cwirko M, et al. A checklist for identifying determinants of practice: A systematic review and synthesis of frameworks and taxonomies of factors that prevent or enable improvements in healthcare professional practice. *Implementation Science*. 2013;8.
- 53.— Green AE, Fettes DL, Aarons GA. A Concept Mapping Approach to Guide and Understand Dissemination and Implementation. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*. 2012;39(4):362-73.
- 54.— VanDeusen-Lukas C, Engle RL, Holmes SK, Parker VA, Petzel RA, Nealon Seibert M, et al. Strengthening organizations to implement evidence-based clinical practices. *Health Care Management Review*. 2010;35(3):235-45.
- 55.— Aarons GA, Horowitz JD, Dlugosz LR, Ehrhart MG. The role of organizational processes in dissemination and implementation research. In: Brownson RC, Graham AC, Proctor EK, editors. *Dissemination and Implementation Research in Health: Translating Science to Practice*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2012. p. 128-53.
- 56.— Aarons GA, Hurlburt M, Horwitz SM. Advancing a Conceptual Model of Evidence-Based Practice Implementation in Public Service Sectors. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*. 2011;38(1):4-23.
- 57.— Damschroder LJ, Hagedorn HJ. A Guiding Framework and Approach for Implementation Research in Substance Use Disorders Treatment. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*. 2011;25(2):194-205.
- 58.— Fixsen DL, Blase KA, Naoom SF, Wallace F. Core Implementation Components. *Research on Social Work Practice*. 2009;19(5):531-40.
- 59.— Kitson A, Powell K, Hoon E, Newbury J, Wilson A, Boilby J. Knowledge translation within a population health study: how do you do it? *Implementation Science*. 2013;8.
- 60.— May C. Towards a general theory of implementation. *Implement Sci*. 2013;8:18.
- 61.— Metz A, Bartley L. Active Implementation Frameworks for Program Success. *Zero to One*. 2012.
- 62.— Proctor EK, Powell BJ, McMillen JC. Implementation strategies: recommendations for specifying and reporting. *Implementation Science*. 2013;8.
- 63.— Simpson DD. A framework for implementing sustainable oral health promotion interventions. *Journal of Public Health Dentistry*. 2011;71:S84-S94.

- 64.—Weiner BJ. A theory of organizational readiness for change. *Implement Sci.* 2009;4:67.
- 65.—May CR, Mair F, Finch T, MacFarlane A, Dowrick C, Treweek S, et al. Development of a theory of implementation and integration: Normalization Process Theory. *Implementation Science.* 2009;4.
- 66.—Carroll C, Patterson M, Wood S, Booth A, Rick J, Balain S. A conceptual framework for implementation fidelity. *Implement Sci.* 2007;2:40.
- 67.—Penrod J. Refinement of the concept of uncertainty. *J Adv Nurs.* 2001;34(2):238-45.
- 68.—Hupcey JE, Morse JM, Lenz ER, Tason MC. Wilsonian methods of concept analysis: A critique. *Scholarly Inquiry for Nursing Practice: An International Journal.* 1996;29:1205-12.
- 69.—Davidoff F, Batalden P, Stevens D, Ogrinc G, Mooney SE. Publication guidelines for quality improvement studies in health care: evolution of the SQUIRE project 2009-2009-01-19 11:13:49.
- 70.—Dopson S, Fitzgerald LA. The active role of context. In: Dopson S, Fitzgerald LA, editors. *Knowledge to action? Evidence-based health care in context.* Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2006.
- 71.—Pawson R, Greenhalgh T, Harvey G, Walshe K. Realist review--a new method of systematic review designed for complex policy interventions. *Journal Of Health Services Research & Policy.* 2005;10 Suppl 1:21-34.
- 72.—Rycroft-Malone J, Harvey G, Seers K, Kitson A, McCormack B, Titchen A. An exploration of the factors that influence the implementation of evidence into practice. *J Clin Nurs.* 2004;13(8):913-24.
- 73.—Rousseau DM. Characteristics of Departments, Positions, and Individualist: Contexts for Attitudes and Behavior. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 1978;23:521-40.
- 74.—Rabin BA, Brownson RC, Haire-Joshu D, Kreuter MW, Weaver NL. A glossary for dissemination and implementation research in health. *Journal Of Public Health Management And Practice : JPHMP.* 2008;14(2):117-23.
- 75.—Klein KJ, Sorra JS. The Challenge of Innovation Implementation. *The Academy of Management Review* 1996. 2008;21:1055-80.
- 76.—Stetler CB, Mittman BS, Francis J. Overview of the VA Quality Enhancement Research Initiative (QUERI) and QUERI theme articles: QUERI Series. *Implement Sci.* 2008;3:8.
- 77.—May C, Finch T, Mair F, Ballini L, Dowrick C, Eccles M, et al. Understanding the implementation of complex interventions in health care: the normalization process model. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2007;7:148.

78. Meyers DC, Katz J, Chien V, Wandersman A, Scaccia JP, Wright A. Practical implementation science: developing and piloting the quality implementation tool. *Am J Community Psychol.* 2012;50(3-4):481-96.
79. Norton WE, Amico KR, Cornman DH, Fisher WA, Fisher JD. An agenda for advancing the science of implementation of evidence-based HIV prevention interventions. *AIDS and behavior.* 2009;13(3):424-9.
80. Proctor EK, Landsverk J, Aarons G, Chambers D, Glisson C, Mittman B. Implementation research in mental health services: an emerging science with conceptual, methodological, and training challenges. *Administration And Policy In Mental Health.* 2009;36(1):24-34.
81. Greenhalgh T, Robert G, Macfarlane F, Bate P, Kyriakidou O. Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: systematic review and recommendations. *The Milbank quarterly.* 2004;82(4):581-629.
82. Klein KJ, Knight AP. Innovation Implementation: Overcoming the Challenge. *Current Directions in Psychological Science.* 2005;14(5):243-6.
83. Wells M, Williams B, Treweek S, Coyle J, Taylor J. Intervention description is not enough: evidence from an in-depth multiple case study on the untold role and impact of context in randomised controlled trials of seven complex interventions. *Trials.* 2012 Jun 28;13:95.
84. Grant A, Treweek S, Dreischulte T, Foy R, Guthrie B. Process evaluations for cluster-randomised trials of complex interventions: a proposed framework for design and reporting. *Trials.* 2013 Jan 12;14:15. Möhler R, Bartoszek G, Köpke S, Meyer G. Proposed criteria for reporting the development and evaluation of complex interventions in healthcare (CRedeCI): guideline development. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2012 Jan;49(1):40-6.
85. Grant A, Treweek S, Dreischulte T, Foy R, Guthrie B. Process evaluations for cluster-randomised trials of complex interventions: a proposed framework for design and reporting. *Trials.* 2013 Jan 12;14:15.

REFERENCES

1. E. Waters, B.J. Hall, R. Armstrong, J. Doyle, T.L. Pettman, et al. (2011) Essential components of public health evidence reviews: capturing intervention complexity, implementation, economics and equity. *Journal of public health* 33: 462-465.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 1 cm, Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

2. M. Wells, B. Williams, S. Treweek, J. Coyle, J. Taylor (2012) Intervention description is not enough: evidence from an in-depth multiple case study on the untold role and impact of context in randomised controlled trials of seven complex interventions. *Trials* 13. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
3. P. Mendel, L.S. Meredith, M. Schoenbaum, C.D. Sherbourne, K.B. Wells (2008) Interventions in organizational and community context: a framework for building evidence on dissemination and implementation in health services research. *Adm Policy Ment Health* 35: 21-37. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
4. J. Cane, D. O'Connor, S. Michie (2012) Validation of the theoretical domains framework for use in behaviour change and implementation research. *Implement Sci* 7. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
5. P.L. Chinn, M.K. Kramer (1995) *Theory and nursing: a systematic approach*. St. Louis, MO: Mosby. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
6. J.E. Hupcey, J. Penrod (2005) Concept analysis: examining the state of the science. *Res Theory Nurs Pract* 19: 197-208. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
7. J.M. Morse (1995) Exploring the theoretical basis of nursing using advances techniques of concept analysis. *ANS Adv Nurs Sci* 17: 31-46. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
8. E. Margolis, S. Laurence (2007) The Ontology of Concepts—Abstract Objects or Mental Representations? *Noûs* 41: 561-593. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
9. J.M. Morse, C. Mitcham, J.E. Hupcey, M.C. Tason (1996) Criteria for concept evaluation. *J Adv Nurs* 24: 385-390. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
10. H. McKenna (2000) *Nursing theories and models*. Oxford: Routledge. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
11. L.O. Walker, K.C. Avant (1995) *Strategies for theory construction in nursing*. Norwalk, CT: Appleton & Lange. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
12. B. McCormack, A. Kitson, G. Harvey, J. Rycroft-Malone, A. Titchen, et al. (2002) Getting evidence into practice: the meaning of 'context'. *J Adv Nurs* 38: 94-104. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
13. A. Kitson, G. Harvey, B. McCormack (1998) Enabling the implementation of evidence based practice: a conceptual framework. *Qual Health Care* 7: 149 - 158. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
14. J.M. Morse, J.E. Hupcey, C. Mitcham, E. Lenz (1997) Choosing a strategy for concept analysis in nursing research: Moving beyond Wilson. In: A.G. Gift AG(Ed), editor. *Clarifying concepts in nursing research*. New York: Springer. pp. 73–96. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
15. J.M. Morse (2000) Exploring pragmatic utility: concept analysis by critically appraising the literature. In: B.L. Rodgers BL, K. Knaf K(Eds.), editors. *Concept Development in Nursing: Foundations, Techniques, and Applications*. 2 ed. Philadelphia, PA: W.B. Saunders. pp. 333-352. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
16. K. Weaver, C. Mitcham (2008) Nursing concept analysis in North America: state of the art. *Nurs Philos* 9: 180-194. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

17. [L.J. Damschroder, D.C. Aron, R.E. Keith, S.R. Kirsh, J.A. Alexander, et al. \(2009\)](#) Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. *Implement Sci* 4. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
18. [J. Saldana \(2012\)](#) *The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers*: SAGE Publications. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
19. [S.R. Chaudoir, A.G. Dugan, C.H.I. Barr \(2013\)](#) Measuring factors affecting implementation of health innovations: a systematic review of structural, organizational, provider, patient, and innovation level measures. *Implement Sci* 8. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
20. [H. Burchett, M. Umoquit, M. Dobrow \(2011\)](#) How do we know when research from one setting can be useful in another? A review of external validity, applicability and transferability frameworks. *Journal of health services research & policy* 16: 238-244. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
21. [J. Kayser-Jones \(1992\)](#) Culture, environment, and restraints: a conceptual model for research and practice. *Journal of gerontological nursing* 18: 13-20. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
22. [A. Bergstrom, S. Peterson, S. Namusoko, P. Waiswa, L. Wallin \(2012\)](#) Knowledge translation in Uganda: a qualitative study of Ugandan midwives' and managers' perceived relevance of the sub-elements of the context cornerstone in the PARIHS framework. *Implement Sci* 3: 117. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
23. [A. Tomoiaia-Cotisel, D.L. Scammon, N.J. Waitzman, P.F. Cronholm, J.R. Halladay, et al. \(2013\)](#) Context matters: the experience of 14 research teams in systematically reporting contextual factors important for practice change. *Ann Fam Med* 11 Suppl 1: S115-123. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
24. [C.A. Estabrooks, J.E. Squires, G.G. Cummings, J.M. Birdsell, P.G. Norton \(2009\)](#) Development and assessment of the Alberta Context Tool. *BMC health services research* 9. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
25. [K.L. Frohlich, L. Potvin, P. Chabot, E. Corin \(2002\)](#) A theoretical and empirical analysis of context: neighbourhoods, smoking and youth. *Soc Sci Med* 54: 1401-1417. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
26. [B. McCormack, G. McCarthy, J. Wright, P. Slater, A. Coffey \(2009\)](#) Development and testing of the Context Assessment Index (CAI). *Worldviews Evid Based Nurs* 6: 27-35. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
27. [D. Riedmann, M. Jung, W.O. Hackl, W. Stuhlinger, H. van der Sijs, et al. \(2011\)](#) Development of a context model to prioritize drug safety alerts in CPOE systems. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak* 11: 35. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt, German (Germany)
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
28. [L.M. Anderson, S.C. Scrimshaw, M.T. Fullilove, J.E. Fielding, S. Task Force on Community Preventive \(2003\)](#) The Community Guide's model for linking the social environment to health. *Am J Prev Med* 24: 12-20. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
29. [G. Sorensen, K. Emmons, M.K. Hunt, E. Barbeau, R. Goldman, et al. \(2003\)](#) Model for incorporating social context in health behavior interventions: applications for cancer prevention for working-class, multiethnic populations. *Prev Med* 37: 188-197. Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

30. ~~W.H.O. (WHO);~~World Health Organization (2013) How to use the ICF: A practical manual for using the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). Exposure draft for comment. Geneva: WHO. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
31. SURE Collaboration (2011) 5. Identifying and addressing barriers to implementing policy options. SURE Guides for Preparing and Using Evidence-Based Policy Briefs (Version 2.0): The SURE Collaboration. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
32. E. Hage, J.P. Roo, M.A.G. van Offenbeek, A. Boonstra (2013) Implementation factors and their effect on e-Health service adoption in rural communities: a systematic literature review. BMC health services research 13. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
33. H.C. Kaplan, P.W. Brady, M.C. Dritz, D.K. Hooper, W.M. Linam, et al. (2010) The influence of context on quality improvement success in health care: a systematic review of the literature. Milbank Q 88: 500-559. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
34. D.C. Meyers, J.A. Durlak, A. Wandersman (2012) The Quality Implementation Framework: A Synthesis of Critical Steps in the Implementation Process. Am J Community Psychol 50: 462-480. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
35. A.C. Avgar, A.S. Litwin, P.J. Pronovost (2012) Drivers and Barriers in Health IT Adoption A Proposed Framework. Appl Clin Inform 3: 488-500. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
36. K.M. Emmons, B. Weiner, M.E. Fernandez, S.-P. Tu (2012) Systems Antecedents for Dissemination and Implementation: A Review and Analysis of Measures. Health Educ Behav 39: 87-105. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
37. K. Glanz, D.B. Bishop (2010) The Role of Behavioral Science Theory in Development and Implementation of Public Health Interventions. In: Fielding JE, Brownson RC, Green LW (Eds), editors. Annual Review of Public Health, . pp. 399-418. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
38. T. Packard (2013) Organizational Change: A Conceptual Framework to Advance the Evidence Base. J Hum Behav Soc Environ 23. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
39. D. Palmer, D. Kramlich (2011) An Introduction to the Multisystem Model of Knowledge Integration and Translation. ANS Adv Nurs Sci 34: 29-38. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
40. E. Suter, J. Goldman, T. Martimianakis, C. Chatalalsingh, D.J. DeMatteo, et al. (2013) The use of systems and organizational theories in the interprofessional field: findings from a scoping review. Journal of interprofessional care 27: 57-64. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
41. A. Talsma, M. McLaughlin, M. Bathish, R. Sirihorachai, R. Kuttner (2014) The Quality, Implementation, and Evaluation Model: A Clinical Practice Model for Sustainable Interventions. Western journal of nursing research 36: 929-946. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
42. F.S. Taxman, S. Belenko (2012) Conceptual Model: Evidence Based Interagency Implementation Model. In: F.S. Taxman FS, S. Belenko S(Eds.), editors. Implementing **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

Evidence-Based Practices in Community Corrections and Addiction Treatment. New York: Springer pp. 239-274.

43. G.A. Aarons, D.L. Fettes, M.S. Hurlburt, L.A. Palinkas, L. Gunderson, et al. (2014) Collaboration, Negotiation, and Coalescence for Interagency-Collaborative Teams to Scale-Up Evidence-Based Practice. Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
44. J. Rycroft-Malone, K. Seers, J. Chandler, C.A. Hawkes, N. Crichton, et al. (2013) The role of evidence, context, and facilitation in an implementation trial: implications for the development of the PARIHS framework. Implement Sci 8. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
45. C.B. Stetler, L.J. Damschroder, C.D. Helfrich, H.J. Hagedorn (2011) A Guide for applying a revised version of the PARIHS framework for implementation. Implement Sci 6. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
46. E. Suter, S. Deutschlander, J. Lait (2011) Using a Complex Systems Perspective to Achieve Sustainable Health Care Practice Change. Journal of Research in Interprofessional Practice and Education 2: 83-99. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
47. S.R. Beidas, J. Edmunds, M. Ditty, J. Watkins, L. Walsh, et al. (2013) Are Inner Context Factors Related to Implementation Outcomes in Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy for Youth Anxiety? Adm Policy Ment Health 41: 788-799. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
48. C.D. Helfrich, Y.-F. Li, N.D. Sharp, A.E. Sales (2009) Organizational readiness to change assessment (ORCA): Development of an instrument based on the Promoting Action on Research in Health Services (PARIHS) framework. Implement Sci 4. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
49. S.A. Flottorp, A.D. Oxman, J. Krause, N.R. Musila, M. Wensing, et al. (2013) A checklist for identifying determinants of practice: A systematic review and synthesis of frameworks and taxonomies of factors that prevent or enable improvements in healthcare professional practice. Implement Sci 8. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
50. C. VanDeusen Lukas, R.L. Engle, S.K. Holmes, V.A. Parker, R.A. Petzel, et al. (2010) Strengthening organizations to implement evidence-based clinical practices. Health Care Manage Rev 35: 235-245. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
51. G.A. Aarons, J.D. Horowitz, L.R. Dlugosz, M.G. Ehrhart (2012) The role of organizational processes in dissemination and implementation research. In: R.C. Brownson-RC, A.C. Graham-AG, E.K. Proctor-EK (Eds),-editors. Dissemination and Implementation Research in Health: Translating Science to Practice. Oxford: Oxford University Press. pp. 128-153. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
52. G.A. Aarons, M. Hurlburt, S.M. Horwitz (2011) Advancing a Conceptual Model of Evidence-Based Practice Implementation in Public Service Sectors. Adm Policy Ment Health 38: 4-23. **Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt**

53. [L.J. Damschroder, H.J. Hagedorn \(2011\) A Guiding Framework and Approach for Implementation Research in Substance Use Disorders Treatment. Psychol Addict Behav 25: 194-205.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
54. [D.L. Fixsen, K.A. Blase, S.F. Naoom, F. Wallace \(2009\) Core Implementation Components. Res Soc Work Pract 19: 531-540.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
55. [A. Kitson, K. Powell, E. Hoon, J. Newbury, A. Wilson, et al. \(2013\) Knowledge translation within a population health study: how do you do it? Implement Sci 8.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
56. [C.R. May \(2013\) Towards a general theory of implementation. Implement Sci 8.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
57. [C.R. May, F. Mair, T. Finch, A. MacFarlane, C. Dowrick, et al. \(2009\) Development of a theory of implementation and integration: Normalization Process Theory. Implement Sci 4.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
58. [A. Metz, L. Bartley \(2012\) Active Implementation Frameworks for Program Success. Zero to One 32: 11-18.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
59. [E.K. Proctor, B.J. Powell, J.C. McMillen \(2013\) Implementation strategies: recommendations for specifying and reporting. Implement Sci 8.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
60. [D.D. Simpson \(2011\) A framework for implementing sustainable oral health promotion interventions. J Public Health Dent 71: S84-S94.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
61. [B.J. Weiner \(2009\) A theory of organizational readiness for change. Implement Sci 4.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
62. [B.J. Weiner, M.A. Lewis, L.A. Linnan \(2009\) Using organization theory to understand the determinants of effective implementation of worksite health promotion programs. Health Educ Res 24: 292-305.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
63. [C. Carroll, M. Patterson, S. Wood, A. Booth, J. Rick, et al. \(2007\) A conceptual framework for implementation fidelity. Implement Sci 2.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
64. [J.E. Hupcey, J.M. Morse, E.R. Lenz, M.C. Tason \(1996\) Wilsonian methods of concept analysis: A critique. Sch Inq Nurs Pract 10: 1205-1212.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
65. [J. Penrod \(2001\) Refinement of the concept of uncertainty. J Adv Nurs 34: 238-245.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
66. [A. Grant, S. Treweek, T. Dreischulte, R. Foy, B. Guthrie \(2013\) Process evaluations for cluster-randomised trials of complex interventions: a proposed framework for design and reporting. Trials 14: 15.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
67. [R. Mohler, G. Bartoszek, S. Kopke, G. Meyer \(2012\) Proposed criteria for reporting the development and evaluation of complex interventions in healthcare \(CReDECI\): guideline development. Int J Nurs Stud 49: 40-46.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
68. [F. Davidoff, P. Batalden, D. Stevens, G. Ogrinc, S.E. Mooney, et al. \(2009\) Publication guidelines for quality improvement studies in health care: evolution of the SQUIRE project. BMJ 338.](#) **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

69. S. Dopson, L.A. Fitzgerald (2006) The active role of context. In: S. Dopson-S, L.A. Fitzgerald-LA (Eds),-editors. Knowledge to action? Evidence-based health care in context. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
70. R. Pawson, T. Greenhalgh, G. Harvey, K. Walshe (2005) Realist review--a new method of systematic review designed for complex policy interventions. Journal of health services research & policy 10 Suppl 1: 21-34. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
71. J. Rycroft-Malone (2004) The PARIHS framework--a framework for guiding the implementation of evidence-based practice. Journal of nursing care quality 19: 297-304. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
72. D.M. Rousseau (1978) Characteristics of Departments, Positions, and Individualist: Contexts for Attitudes and Behavior. Administrative Science Quarterly 23: 521-540. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
73. B.A. Rabin, R.C. Brownson, D. Haire-Joshu, M.W. Kreuter, N.L. Weaver (2008) A glossary for dissemination and implementation research in health. J Public Health Manag Pract 14: 117-123. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
74. K.J. Klein, J.S. Sorra (1996) The Challenge of Innovation Implementation. The Academy of Management Review 21: 1055-1080. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
75. C.B. Stetler, B.S. Mittman, J. Francis (2008) Overview of the VA Quality Enhancement Research Initiative (QUERI) and QUERI theme articles: QUERI Series. Implement Sci 3. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
76. C.R. May, T. Finch, F. Mair, L. Ballini, C. Dowrick, et al. (2007) Understanding the implementation of complex interventions in health care: the normalization process model. BMC health services research 7: 148. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
77. D.C. Meyers, J. Katz, V. Chien, A. Wandersman, J.P. Scaccia, et al. (2012) Practical implementation science: developing and piloting the quality implementation tool. Am J Community Psychol 50: 481-496. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt, English (U.S.)
78. T. Greenhalgh, G. Robert, F. Macfarlane, P. Bate, O. Kyriakidou (2004) Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: systematic review and recommendations. Milbank Q 82: 581-629. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt, German (Germany)
79. K.J. Klein, A.P. Knight (2005) Innovation Implementation: Overcoming the Challenge. Curr Dir Psychol 14: 243-246. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
80. W.E. Norton, K.R. Amico, D.H. Cornman, W.A. Fisher, J.D. Fisher (2009) An agenda for advancing the science of implementation of evidence-based HIV prevention interventions. AIDS Behav 13: 424-429. **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt
81. E.K. Proctor, J. Landsverk, G. Aarons, D. Chambers, C. Glisson, et al. (2009) Implementation research in mental health services: an emerging science with **Formatted:** Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

conceptual, methodological, and training challenges. Adm Policy Ment Health 36: 24-34.

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 1 cm, Line spacing: 1.5 lines